DENTAL IMPLANT OUTCOMES IN OSTEOPOROSIS

## OSTEONECROSIS OF THE JAW AND DENTAL IMPLANT FAILURE RELATED TO ANTIRESORPTIVE THERAPY FOR OSTEOPOROSIS: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND META-ANALYSIS

By REZA D MIRZA, MD, HBSc

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Reza Mirza, September 2023

McMaster University MASTER OF SCIENCE (2023) Hamilton, Ontario (HEI)

TITLE: Osteonecrosis Of The Jaw And Dental Implant Failure Related To Antiresorptive Therapy For Osteoporosis: A Systematic Review And Meta-Analysis

AUTHOR: Reza Mirza, MD, HBSc

SUPERVISOR: Professor G. Guyatt

NUMBER OF PAGES: x, 45 pages

## Lay Abstract

We sought to generate an up-to-date and comprehensive analysis of whether standard treatment for osteoporosis with anti-resorptives increases the risk of adverse outcomes when undergoing dental implantion.

We conducted a search of all studies published on this between 1946 and 2022, and found 793 studies. Nine studies provided numbers related to dental implant outcomes. We are very uncertain whether anti-resorptive increase or reduce the absolute risk of dental implant failure. The estimated worst case scenario is that anti-resorptives cause 3 more implant failures per 100 patients.

We also looked at the rare outcome of death of the jaw bone (osteonecrosis). We found this occurs 0.4% of time in patients undergoing implant when exposed to anti-resorptive drugs. We estimate that exposure to anti-resorptives increases the risk of osteonecrosis of the jaw by 3 per 1000 patients. The evidence supporting this is from one moderate quality study.

## Abstract

**Purpose**: We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis evaluating dental implant failure and osteonecrosis related to antiresorptive therapy for osteoporosis.

**Methods:** We searched 5 databases between 1946 and January 2022. We included interventional and non-interventional studies reporting rates of dental implant failure or osteonecrosis in those with osteoporosis or osteopenia. Two reviewers independently screened all titles and abstracts, and full-texts. Risk of bias was assessed using the modified Ottawa-Newcastle scale, and the evidence was assessed using the GRADE framework. We adhered to PRISMA 2020 and MOOSE reporting standards.

**Results:** Our search revealed 793 unique citations that underwent title and abstract screening. We included 112 studies for full text screening, 33 underwent data abstraction, and ultimately nine (n=655) were included for the implant failure analysis. Random effects meta-analysis revealed a point estimate suggesting a decrease in relative risk of implant failure in those exposed to antiresorptives (RR 0.82, 95% Cl 0.52 – 1.28, p = 0.38, very low certainty). We identified 128 cases of MRONJ in implant recipients. The rate of MRONJ following implantation in those exposed to antiresorptive therapy is 0.40% pooled from 20 cohorts. A single comparative study assessed risk adjusted MRONJ in osteoporotic patients undergoing dental implant placement and found use of bisphosphonates increased osteonecrosis of the jaw by 3 cases per 1000 patients (adjusted HR 4.09, 95% Cl 2.75 – 6.09, p<0.001, moderate certainty).

**Conclusions:** The limited evidence does not suggest an association between antiresorptive therapy for osteoporosis and dental implant failure. The certainty of evidence is very low due to serious methodologic concerns. Antiresorptive therapy likely causes MRONJ in osteoporotic patients receiving dental implants with moderate certainty evidence.

## Acknowledgements

I am ever grateful I met Professor Gordon Guyatt and embarked on this path with him a decade ago. Gordon, your flexibility in allowing me to pursue my own path is a breath of fresh air compared to the academy otherwise. You see the world clearly, and speak truly, neither of which is common in any setting. You go out of your way for me and I think you like me. And the best part: There's always a touch of jest.

Mom and dad, thanks for always being there.

Enzo and Cyrus, I love you dearly.

# Table of Contents

Preliminary Pages	ii-viii
Descriptive note	ii
Lay Abstract	iii
Abstract	iv
Acknowledgments	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures and Tables	viii
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	ix
Declaration of Academic Achievement	x
Chapter 1. Background	1
1.1 Anti-resorptive therapy	1
1.2 Osteonecrosis of the Jaw (ONJ)	2
1.3 Purpose of this Study	4
Chapter 2. Methodology	5
2.1 Search Strategy	5
2.2 Eligibility Criteria	6
2.3 Screening Citations and Extracting Data	6
2.4 Unpublished Data	7
2.4 Risk of Bias and Quality of Evidence	8
2.4 Dental Implant Outcome Analysis	8
2.4 Osteonecrosis of the Jaw Analysis	9
Chapter 3. Results	
3.1 Dental Implant Outcomes	
3.2 Osteonecrosis of the Jaw Outcomes	15
Chapter 4. Discussion	
4.1 Summary of Findings	
4.2 Relationship to Other Reviews	
4.3 Strength	
4.4 Limitations	

4.5 Analytic Considerations	21
4.6 Implications	22
Chapter 5. References	
Chapter 6. Appendices	

## Lists of Figures and Tables

Table 1. Included Studies Reporting Dental Implant Success1	0
Table 2. Studies Excluded from Meta-Analysis, and Reason for Exclusion	
Table 3. Table of Included Studies Reporting MRONJ in Patients receiving Implants 1	6

Figure 1. Forest Plot of Dental Implant Failure (patient level)	. 13
Figure 2. Forest Plot of Dental Implant Success (patient level)	. 13
Figure 3. Forest Plot of Dental Implant Failure (implant level)	. 14
Figure 4. Forest Plot of Dental Implant Success (implant level)	. 14
Figure 5. GRADE Assessment of Dental Implant Success Evidence	. 15
Figure 6. GRADE Evidence Table for MRONJ Incidence	. 17

## List of Abbreviations and Symbols

AAOMS: American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons **AR:** Anti-resorptive agents ASBMR: American Society for Bone and Mineral Research BMD: Bone mineral density **BP: Bisphosphonates** DXA: Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry GRADE: Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation HR: Hazard ratio IV: Intravenous PO: Per os (by mouth) ONJ: Osteonecrosis of the jaw **OP:** Osteoporosis MA: Meta-analysis MRONJ: Medication related osteonecrosis of the jaw NR: Not reported **RR: Relative Risk** SC: Subcutaneous SR: Systematic Review

## **Declaration of Academic Achievement**

Dr. Reza Mirza led the study design, data abstraction, analysis, methodology, management, and writing. Dr. Gordon Guyatt supervised the paper, provided methodology expertise, and played a major editorial role. Drs. Mohamed El Rabbany and Dalal Ali participated in data abstraction and assisting in writing and revising. Drs. Aliya A. Khan, Sotirios Tetradis, Archibald Morrison, Salvatore Ruggiero lead the ONJ taskforce that posed this question to inform their guidelines for practitioners, in addition they provided content expertise and provided key editorial input.

## Chapter 1. Background

#### <u>1.1 Anti-resorptive Therapy</u>

Antiresorptive therapies, including bisphosphonates (BPs) and denosumab, are widely used for the management of osteoporosis; management of bone pain, skeletal events, and hypercalcemia in patients with malignancy; and Paget's disease.<sup>1–5</sup> Two specific anti-resorptive medications, zoledronic acid (intravenous) and denosumab (subcutaneous) are given for both oncology and osteoporosis indications. For patients with cancer, the recommended cumulative annual dose of both zoledronic acid and denosumab is "high," at 10-12x greater than the recommended cumulative annual dose for patients with osteoporosis, which is considered "low." The recommended cumulative annual absorbed dose of orally-administered bisphosphonates, such as alendronate, risedronate, and ibandronate, is "low," effectively approximating that of the osteoporosis dose of zoledronic acid.

Although the mechanism of action of BPs and denosumab differ, they both result in the suppression of osteoclasts activity and function. BPs can further lead to apoptosis of osteoclasts.<sup>6</sup> This leads to suppression of bone resorption and increase in bone mass over time.

When considering antiresorptive therapies, the risk of adverse dental outcomes must be considered: namely, dental implant failure and the risk of medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw (MRONJ). Dental implant survival is determined by patient factors (comorbidities, oral hygiene, regular semi-annual dental maintenance visits, quality of bone and tissue quality) and

implant factors (surgical technique).<sup>7</sup> There are no randomized clinical trials to establish an association between the use of antiresorptive therapy and dental implant failure. Two reviews report a majority of studies investigating the effect of anti-resorptive therapy for osteoporosis on dental implant survival report a survival rate similar to that in non-anti-resorptive patients. These reviews also suggest that though dental implants in patients with cancer who take anti-resorptives are contraindicated, dental implants are acceptable in patients with osteoporosis who take antiresorptives, so long as all other negative risk factors are minimized.<sup>8,9</sup> Most showed safety of bisphosphonates used at low doses for osteoporosis prior to and post dental implant surgery with a success rate ranging between 95% and 100%,<sup>10–24</sup> while others describe an increased risk of implant failure.<sup>12,25–32</sup> With limited evidence available on the effect of antiresorptive therapy on dental implants, the American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons (AAOMS) considers the risk of developing MRONJ after dental implant to be similar to that after tooth extraction.<sup>33</sup> The 2022 European Calcified Tissue Society (ECTS) position paper deems implant to be low risk for triggering MRONJ.<sup>34</sup>

### <u>1.2 Osteonecrosis of the Jaw (ONJ)</u>

MRONJ is a rare occurrence in the setting of antiresorptive therapy use in patients with osteoporosis<sup>35</sup> and is defined by the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research (ASBMR)<sup>36</sup> and the American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons (AAOMS)<sup>33,37</sup> as an exposed bone area in the maxillofacial region which does not heal for up to 8 weeks in patients who are currently (or previously) treated with antiresorptive therapy, in the absence of prior radiation exposure to the jaw or maxillofacial region. MRONJ is the preferred term when

osteonecrosis of the jaw occurs during antiresorptive or antiangiogenic therapy,<sup>33,38</sup> it was initially referred to as bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaw (BRONJ).<sup>39</sup>

Staging of MRONJ was originally described in the AOOMS 2007 position paper, modified in 2009 to include Stage 0, and has since remained consistent including their 2022 update: Stage 0 (no exposed bone but non-specific symptoms and clinical or radiographic findings); Stage 1 (exposed bone without pain or infection); Stage 2 (exposed bone with pain and infection); and Stage 3 (exposed bone or fistula with infection and significant complications).<sup>33,39,40</sup>

MRONJ is more common in patients with cancer (1.8–5% incidence) than with osteoporosis (0.01-0.03% incidence).<sup>24,33,35,41,42</sup> Both clinical and preclinical data strongly suggest that most MRONJ requires the coexistence of systemic risk factors (anti-resorptives or angiogenesis inhibitors) and local oral risk factors that include tooth extraction, local inflammation (e.g., periodontal or periapical infection), trauma from removable dental prostheses, and potentially, dental implants.<sup>43–48</sup> 60% of MRONJ cases follow dental procedures, particularly tooth extraction. Other less-frequently-cited systemic risk factors include diabetes, chemotherapy, anti-angiogenics, corticosteroid therapy, and smoking.<sup>49–56</sup> Despite these advances in the basic tissue level understanding of MRONJ and the high likelihood that ongoing research will be gradually reveal more details, the molecular events underlying these tissue level observations remain to be elucidated.

Although authors have offered estimates of absolute MRONJ risk from 1 to 10 per 100 000 personyears in patients treated with BPs,<sup>35,36</sup> uncertainty regarding incidence remains. In patients treated with denosumab, the initial exposure-adjusted MRONJ rate from the FREEDOM Extension trial was 5 in 10,000.<sup>57</sup> The incidence of MRONJ, thought to be dose related, is higher in patients on antiresorptive therapy for cancer management, between 1% and 2% with denosumab<sup>58,59</sup> and up to 10% with intravenous BPs.<sup>60</sup> Other risk factors for MRONJ include diabetes, chemotherapy, corticosteroid therapy, smoking, age greater than 65, periodontal disease, periodontitis, denture use, poor oral hygiene, invasive dentoalveolar surgery including tooth extraction, as well as dose and duration of antiresorptive therapy.<sup>37,50–56</sup>

National and international consensus statements have addressed the incidence, classification, diagnosis, and management of MRONJ in both the osteoporosis and oncology populations.<sup>35,61</sup> In patients with osteoporosis on antiresorptive therapy who develop clinical MRONJ (Stage 1 or higher), the AAOMS (and ECTS) suggest considering withholding antiresorptive treatment until complete soft tissue healing of the surgical site, which usually occurs in 6 to 8 weeks<sup>35,61</sup>, however this remains controversial.<sup>33,34</sup> For instance, in the case of denosumab there is risk of rebound multiple vertebral compression fractures if treatment is withheld.

## <u>1.3 Purpose of This Study</u>

The International ONJ Taskforce is a cross-disciplinary group of investigators including dentistry, oral surgery, rheumatology, endocrinology, and metabolic bone disease specialists who published a consensus statement in 2015 regarding management of osteonecrosis of the jaw.<sup>35</sup>

The taskforce has re-convened to update their recommendations (in review). To inform the taskforce's recommendations, we were tasked with generating the most up-to-date estimates of the excess risk of implant failure and MRONJ associated with use of antiresorptives in patients with osteoporosis undergoing dental implantation.

## **Chapter 2. Methodology**

We assembled an international collaboration of experts (the International Consensus on MRONJ Task Force) who conceived this question. We conducted this systematic review and meta-analysis. The protocol was registered at the time of update (CRD42022307412), but was not pre-registered.

## Chapter 2.1 Search Strategy

A health sciences information specialist experienced in systematic review developed the search strategy that included five databases (MEDLINE, EMBASE, Cochrane Central, CINAHL, Web of Science) between 1946 and November 2020, and updated using the same search terms in January 2022. Appendix B presents the detailed search strategy. We also conducted a manual review of citations from existing systematic reviews and contacted content experts for further references.

#### Chapter 2.2 Eligibility criteria

We included published and unpublished observational and interventional studies that reported rates of dental implant failure or osteonecrosis of the jaw in patients who underwent dental implant placement with a history of osteopenia or osteoporosis. Antiresorptive therapy included bisphosphonates and denosumab for treatment of osteopenia or osteoporosis. We had no geographic restriction. Both prospective and retrospective studies were included. Case series were included if they included at least 5 patients with MRONJ. Abstracts were considered admissible if they reported the requisite information. Non-English articles were screened using machine translation. We excluded studies pooling outcomes in patients with malignancy, and studies whose population represented a smaller subgroup of an already included study.

## Screening Citations and Extracting Data

Two reviewers conducted eligibility screening independently and in duplicate of all citations. Screening was done on the Covidence.org platform. All reviewers had domain expertise, and one reviewer (RM) with domain expertise and methods experience reviewed every citation. All articles in the title and abstract screening included relevant data and underwent full-text screening. We included articles for data abstraction when the full-text screen confirmed eligibility criteria and measurement of at least one relevant outcome. The two reviewers extracted the following data: study methodology; interventions and comparator; population; start and end of data collection; duration of follow-up; number of patients and implants; dental implant failure events, rate, and definition; osteonecrosis of the jaw events and rate, prognostic factors; and drug indication, exposure, dose, and average duration. In cases where the authors

did not report occurrence of MRONJ, we assumed no MRONJ had occurred. Disagreements at any stage between the two reviewers that persisted after discussion were resolved by a senior methodologist (GG) if methodologic in nature, the guideline panel if related to content expertise, or both.

## Unpublished Data

In cases where more information was required for inclusion. 23 authors were contacted, nine authors responded, six providing new information allowing inclusion of six studies, one providing information allowing for exclusion, and two indicating the data requested was unavailable.

Dr. Watts provided follow-up data from Amgen. Dr. Tallarico confirmed the indication for bisphosphonates was osteoporosis, allowing for inclusion. Dr. Famili confirmed her two studies described non-overlapping populations, allowing for inclusion of both. Dr. Pogrel confirmed all patients were on bisphosphonates for osteoporosis, and four patients with osteoporosis did not take bisphosphonate therapy, allowing for the inclusion of his study. Dr. Clauser informed us his study included a single patient with osteoporosis, allowing its exclusion<sup>62</sup>. Mr. Cheng shared the number of patients with dental implant failure in the unexposed osteoporosis group, allowing for inclusion. Dr. Koka confirmed all his patients had osteoporosis or osteopenia, allowing for inclusion.

#### Risk of Bias and Quality of Evidence

Two reviewers independently assessed risk of bias of studies included in the analysis using the modified Ottawa-Newcastle scale<sup>63,64</sup> across eight domains: selection bias, exposure to intervention, outcome measurements both at the start and end of trial, assessment of prognostic features, appropriate adjustment of prognostic imbalances, adequacy of follow-up, and similarity of intervention between groups. A third reviewer (DA) addressed whether one study bias in all included studies, and was blinded with regards to the purpose of the third review.

We used the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) methodology to assess the certainty of evidence,<sup>65</sup> rating our certainty in a non-zero effect.<sup>66</sup> If 10 or more studies were included, we addressed publication bias using funnel plots. We used Magicapp to create our GRADE tables.

## Dental Implant Outcome Analysis

Our pre-specified primary analysis was evaluating dental implant failure at the level of the patient. During the peer-review process, limitations of evaluating dental implant failure were raised: it is a rare event leading to imprecise estimates, and studies with no events would not provide any information to the meta-analysis. A reviewer suggested this would be mitigated by looking at dental implant success instead. We therefore repeated our analyses based on the reviewer's suggestion. We performed and present both approaches.

Pooled estimates for the excess relative and absolute risk of dental implant failure were generated using random-effects meta-analysis in Review Manager 5.4. A random-effects model was chosen given the significant heterogeneity among study populations (e.g. post-menopausal women versus all comers), drug intervention (e.g. denosumab, intravenous zoledronic acid, and oral bisphosphonates), and implant procedure (e.g. number and location of implants, associated sinus lift, or dental extraction). The primary outcome was analyzed at the patient level (i.e. if a patient had more than one implant, events counted for the patient, not the implants).

Two post-hoc sensitivity analyses were conducted for relative risk of dental implant failure: analysis at the level of dental implant, and analysis when excluding two studies deemed to have unusually high estimates of risk of dental implant failure.

## Osteonecrosis of the Jaw Analysis

We intended to evaluate the excess risk of osteonecrosis using a similar analysis as specified for in dental implant failure. An additional analysis of interest was the incidence of osteonecrosis in patients using antiresorptive agents.

## **Chapter 3. Results**

The systematic search identified 1503 citations, of which 793 remained for screening by titles and abstracts following automated de-duplication. Title and abstract screening revealed 112 potentially eligible studies. Full text screening identified 31 relevant studies, and experts identified two additional studies, leading to 33 included studies. The additional two articles found by experts were published after the final search in one case, and between the searches in the other. See Appendix A for PRISMA diagram.

## 3.1 Dental Implant Outcomes

Nine studies reported comparative risk estimates of dental implant outcomes in patients with osteoporosis or osteopenia between those taking and not taking antiresorptive agents. We evaluated both dental implant failure and success.

Table 1 presents study characteristics of eligible studies reporting on dental implant success. The nine studies included 655 patients and at least 1715 implants (some studies did not report number of implants, in which case we presumed one implant per patient). Seven studies were conducted in the United States, one study in Japan, and one in India. Table 2 presents studies that were considered for inclusion, but ultimately excluded, alongside reason for exclusion.

Citation	Study Design	Antiresorptive Implant Success Rate (% of patients)	Control Implant Success Rate (% of patients)	Number of Implants (antiresorptive / control)	Population Definition	Exposure (dose duration)	MRONJ	Follow-up
Al- Sabbagh	Chart review	20/20 (100%)	9/9	46 / NR	Self reported OP	Oral BPs (NR)	0	NR
2015 <sup>13</sup> Famili 2011 <sup>14</sup>	Chart Review	21/22 (95%)	(100%) 5/5 (100%)	75 / 7	Self reported OP	Oral BPs (NR)	0	NR
Famili 2015 <sup>67</sup>	Prospective non- interventional	2/2 (100%)	18/18 (100%)	2 / 19	BMD defined OP	Oral BPs (NR)	0	2 years minimum
Jeffcoat 2006 <sup>15</sup>	Prospective Non- interventional	25/25 (100%)	24/25 (96%)	102 / 108	BMD defined OP	Alendronate or risedronate (average 3 years duration)	0	3 years minimum
Kasai 2009 <sup>29</sup>	Chart Review	8/11 (72%)	4/4 (100%)	35 / 7	Self reported OP	Alendronate (NR)	0	Mean 6.95 years
Pandey 2019 <sup>16</sup>	Prospective non- interventional	14/15 (93%)	14/15 (93%)	26 / 32	BMD defined OP	Alendronate (10mg daily for 1.5 years)	0	NR
Yajima 2017 <sup>30</sup>	Prospective non- interventional	8/11 (72%)	14/14 (100%)	25 / 28	Previous diagnosis of OP	Alendronate (greater than one year)	0	3.2 years (BP), 5.2 years (control)
Koka 2010 <sup>19</sup>	Retrospective cohort with prospective follow-up	54/55 (98%)	80/82 (98%)	121 / 166	Chart diagnosis of Osteoporosis / osteopenia	~4 years of bisphosphonate use on average.	0	1mo - 3years
Cheng 2022 <sup>68</sup>	Retrospective cohort	105/124 (85%)	158/199 (79%)	417 / 640	Presumed self reported	Oral and IV BP, and denosumab.	1	Mean 8.8 years

NR = Not reported. OP = osteoporosis. BMD = bone mineral density. BP = bisphosphonate. IV = intravenous.

200717 coral BPs (mean 3.3 years) had no failed implants at 12-24 months.comparator group.Bell 200811 applants at 12-24 months.21 patients (100 implants) taking oral bisphosphonates. No comparative risk estima can be generated.Shabestari 20091821 patients (a66 implants) exposed to oral BPs with no failed implants. Follow-up range 0.6-8.1 years.Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonate therapy. range 0.6-8.1 years.Martin16 of S89 patients exposed to oral BPs had dental implant failure.Single arm series of patients with dental failur and bisphosphonate use.201028012 201028 had dental implant failure.Single arm study wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonate use.20102802 278 months.Outcomes not separately reported for oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.Leonida9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had 2ero failures at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Al-Sabbagh100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Outcomes not separately reported for control arm.2012 <sup>241</sup> oral BPs. Implant (sos not reported by group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, nolyone implant failures at 1 year.Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Siebert12 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patien	Study	Findings	Reason for Exclusion
implants at 12-24 months.Survey and the second	Fugazzotto	61 patients (169 implants) exposed to	Indication for bisphosphonates not stated. No
Bell 20081142 patients (100 implants) taking oral BPs. 5 patients lost one implant each. Follow-up 0.3-7 years.Single arm study in which all patients took bisphosphonates. No comparative risk estima can be generated.Shabestari21 patients (46 implants) exposed to oral BPs with no failed implants. Follow-up range 0.6-8.1 years.Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonate use.Martin16 of 589 patients exposed to oral BPs had dental implant failure.Single arm series of patients with dental failur and bisphosphonate use.Zahid 201122Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.Outcomes not separately reported for osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed 2012 <sup>20</sup> Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Identiation100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures. arm.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-Sabbagh 2015 <sup>21</sup> In 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert 2015 <sup>23</sup> 12 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years.Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 pat	200717	oral BPs (mean 3.3 years) had no failed	comparator group.
BPs. 5 patients lost one implant each. Follow-up 0.3-7 years.bisphosphonates. No comparative risk estima can be generated.Shabestari 2009 <sup>18</sup> 21 patients (46 implants) exposed to oral BPs with no failed implants. Follow-up range 0.6-8.1 years.Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonate use.Martin 2010 <sup>28</sup> 16 of 589 patients exposed to oral BPs had dental implant failure.Single arm series of patients with dental failure and bisphosphonate use.Zahid 2011 <sup>12</sup> Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.Outcomes not separately reported for osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida 2012 <sup>20</sup> 9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had 200 railers at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Memon 2012 <sup>21</sup> 100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs. had 10 implant failures. arm.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-Sabbagh 2015 <sup>21</sup> in 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure adefinition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert 2016 <sup>23</sup> 12 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to ani-resorptives 309 implants fail		implants at 12-24 months.	
Follow-up 0.3-7 years.can be generated.Shabestari 2009 <sup>18</sup> 21 patients (46 implants) exposed to oral BPs with no failed implants. Follow-up range 0.6-8.1 years.Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonate therapy.Martin 2010 <sup>28</sup> 16 of 589 patients exposed to oral BPs had dental implant failure.Single arm series of patients with dental failur and bisphosphonate use.Zahid 2011 <sup>12</sup> Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.Outcomes not separately reported for osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida 2012 <sup>20</sup> 9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Memon 2012 <sup>21</sup> 100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-Sabbagh 2015 <sup>21</sup> in 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert 2015 <sup>22</sup> 12 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failures at 1 year.Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Control group does not have osteoporosis. anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 8 months follow-up (mean).Albander 2008 <sup>70</sup> In 15 patients (467 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed.Single arm study. <td< td=""><td>Bell 200811</td><td>42 patients (100 implants) taking oral</td><td>Single arm study in which all patients took</td></td<>	Bell 200811	42 patients (100 implants) taking oral	Single arm study in which all patients took
Shabestari 20091821 patients (46 implants) exposed to oral BPs with no failed implants. Follow-up range 0.6-8.1 years.Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonate therapy.Martin 20102816 of 589 patients exposed to oral BPs had dental implant failure.Single arm series of patients with dental failur and bisphosphonate use.Zahid 201122Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.Outcomes not separately reported for osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida 2012209 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Memon 201231100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-Sabbagh 201521in 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert 20152212 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 202069In 80 patients (324 implants) exposed to oral BPs, a019 one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Kim 202069In 80 patients (467 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 35 months follow-up (mean).Single arm study.Albander 2008 <sup>70</sup> In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 m		BPs. 5 patients lost one implant each.	bisphosphonates. No comparative risk estimate
200918BPs with no failed implants. Follow-up range 0.6-8.1 years.bisphosphonate therapy.Martin16 of 589 patients exposed to oral BPs had dental implant failure.Single arm series of patients with dental failur and bisphosphonate use.Zahid 201122Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.Outcomes not separately reported for osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Memon100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.2015 <sup>21</sup> acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.Tallarico 2016 <sup>23</sup> aral BPs, only one implant failures at 1 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> Logament follow-up (mean).In 32 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 35 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Albander 2008 <sup>70</sup> In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.2008 <sup>70</sup> 2008 <sup>70</sup> In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.		Follow-up 0.3-7 years.	can be generated.
range 0.6-8.1 years.Single arm series of patients with dental failur and bisphosphonate use.2010 <sup>28</sup> had dental implant failure.Single arm series of patients with dental failur and bisphosphonate use.Zahid 2011 <sup>12</sup> Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.Outcomes not separately reported for osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Memon100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Osteoporosis status not reported for control oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Al-SabbaghIn 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronic acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.Tallarico 2016 <sup>23</sup> In 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Albander 2008 <sup>70</sup> In 15 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.2008 <sup>70</sup> 2008 <sup>70</sup> In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, asociated with ONJ.No evaluation of dent	Shabestari	21 patients (46 implants) exposed to oral	Single arm study, wherein all patients received
Martin 20102816 of 589 patients exposed to oral BPs had dental implant failure.Single arm series of patients with dental failur and bisphosphonate use.Zahid 201122Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.Outcomes not separately reported for osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida 2012209 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Memon 201231100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-Sabbagh 201521In 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert 20152212 patients with OP taking zoledronic acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.Tallarico 201623In 32 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 202069 200870In 80 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.Albander 201071 anoths follow-up (mean).No evaluation of dental implantation.Albander 201071 anoths follow-up (mean).No evaluation of dental implantation.	200918	BPs with no failed implants. Follow-up	bisphosphonate therapy.
201028had dental implant failure.and bisphosphonate use.Zahid 201112Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow up 2-78 months.Outcomes not separately reported for osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed 2012 <sup>20</sup> Single arm study wherein all patients were tak bisphosphonates.Memon100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 2ero failures at 2 years.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.2012 <sup>21</sup> oral BPs had 10 implant failures.arm.Al-SabbaghIn 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronic vear.Control group did not have osteoporosis.TallaricoIn 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 wears (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.2008 <sup>70</sup> to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.SkrepnekIn 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.		range 0.6-8.1 years.	
Zahid 201112Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.Outcomes not separately reported for osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Memon100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-Sabbagh 201521in 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronic acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.TallaricoIn 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Control group does not have osteoporosis.200870to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.200971 anoths follow-up (mean).No evaluation of dental implantation.Albander 201071 anoty to specify with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	Martin	16 of 589 patients exposed to oral BPs	Single arm series of patients with dental failure
oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow- up 2-78 months.osteoporotic patients not taking bisphosphonates.Leonida9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tal bisphosphonates.Memon100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-SabbaghIn 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronic acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.TallaricoIn 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.AlbanderIn 115 patients with osteoporosis, anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.20008 <sup>70</sup> to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.SkrepnekIn 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	2010 <sup>28</sup>	had dental implant failure.	and bisphosphonate use.
up 2-78 months.bisphosphonates.Leonida9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposedSingle arm study wherein all patients were tall201220to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.bisphosphonates.Memon100 patients (153 implants) exposed toOsteoporosis status not reported for control2012 <sup>31</sup> oral BPs had 10 implant failures.arm.Al-SabbaghIn 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposedSample appears to overlap with an included2015 <sup>21</sup> to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronic year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.2015 <sup>22</sup> acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.2016 <sup>23</sup> n 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 3 years (minimun).Single arm study.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.2008 <sup>70</sup> to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.Skrepnek 2010 <sup>71</sup> n 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	Zahid 2011 <sup>12</sup>	Of 26 patients (51 implants) exposed to	Outcomes not separately reported for
Leonida 2012209 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.Single arm study wherein all patients were tall bisphosphonates.Memon 201231100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-Sabbagh 201521In 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert 20152212 patients with OP taking zoledronic acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.Tallarico 201623In 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 202069In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Albander 200870In 115 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.Single arm study.		oral BPs, 3 lost one implant each. Follow-	osteoporotic patients not taking
201220to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.bisphosphonates.Memon100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-SabbaghIn 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronic acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.TallaricoIn 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.2008 <sup>70</sup> to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.2010 <sup>71</sup> only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.		up 2-78 months.	bisphosphonates.
Memon100 patients (153 implants) exposed to oral BPs had 10 implant failures.Osteoporosis status not reported for control arm.Al-SabbaghIn 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronic acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.TallaricoIn 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.SkrepnekIn 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	Leonida	9 patients (54 implants) with OP exposed	Single arm study wherein all patients were taking
201231oral BPs had 10 implant failures.arm.Al-SabbaghIn 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposedSample appears to overlap with an included2015 <sup>21</sup> to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.Sample appears to overlap with an includedSiebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronic acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.TallaricoIn 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.SkrepnekIn 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	2012 <sup>20</sup>	to oral BPs had zero failures at 2 years.	bisphosphonates.
Al-Sabbagh 2015 <sup>21</sup> In 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.Sample appears to overlap with an included study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert 2015 <sup>22</sup> acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.Tallarico 2016 <sup>23</sup> In 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Albander 2010 <sup>71</sup> In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, 1 might sphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	Memon	100 patients (153 implants) exposed to	Osteoporosis status not reported for control
201521to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by group.study by the same author. Implant failure definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronic acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.TallaricoIn 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.SkrepnekIn 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	2012 <sup>31</sup>	oral BPs had 10 implant failures.	arm.
group.definition includes patient satisfaction.Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronicControl group did not have osteoporosis.2015 <sup>22</sup> acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.TallaricoIn 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients receiver bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.SkrepnekIn 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	Al-Sabbagh	In 59 patients with OP, 39 were exposed	Sample appears to overlap with an included
Siebert12 patients with OP taking zoledronicControl group did not have osteoporosis.201522acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Control group did not have osteoporosis.TallaricoIn 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.SkrepnekIn 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	2015 <sup>21</sup>	to oral BPs. Implant loss not reported by	study by the same author. Implant failure
201522acid yearly had no implant failures at 1 year.Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Tallarico 201623In 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Kim 202069In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Albander 200870In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.Skrepnek 201071In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.		group.	definition includes patient satisfaction.
year.Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Tallarico 2016 <sup>23</sup> In 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup> In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Albander 2008 <sup>70</sup> In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.Skrepnek 2010 <sup>71</sup> In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	Siebert	12 patients with OP taking zoledronic	Control group did not have osteoporosis.
Tallarico 201623In 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).Single arm study, wherein all patients received bisphosphonates.Kim 202069In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Albander 200870In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.Skrepnek 2010 <sup>71</sup> In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	2015 <sup>22</sup>	acid yearly had no implant failures at 1	
201623oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3 years (minimum).bisphosphonates.Kim 202069In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Albander 200870In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.Skrepnek 201071In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.		year.	
years (minimum).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Kim 202069In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.200870to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.No evaluation of dental implantation.Skrepnek 201071In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	Tallarico	In 32 patients (98 implants) exposed to	Single arm study, wherein all patients received
Kim 202069In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Control group does not have osteoporosis.Albander 200870In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.Skrepnek 201071In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	2016 <sup>23</sup>	oral BPs, only one implant failed at 3	bisphosphonates.
anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85 months follow-up (mean).Single arm study.AlbanderIn 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.SkrepnekIn 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.		years (minimum).	
months follow-up (mean).Single arm study.Albander 200870In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.Skrepnek 201071In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.	Kim 2020 <sup>69</sup>	In 80 patients (344 implants) exposed to	Control group does not have osteoporosis.
Albander 200870In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.Single arm study.Skrepnek 201071In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.		anti-resorptives 309 implants failed at 85	
200870to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.SkrepnekIn 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.No evaluation of dental implantation.		months follow-up (mean).	
Skrepnek In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis, No evaluation of dental implantation.   2010 <sup>71</sup> only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ. No evaluation of dental implantation.	Albander	In 115 patients (467 implants) exposed	Single arm study.
2010 <sup>71</sup> only IV bisphosphonates were associated with ONJ.	2008 <sup>70</sup>	to anti-resorptives, 1 implant failed.	
associated with ONJ.	Skrepnek	In 637,209 patients with osteoporosis,	No evaluation of dental implantation.
associated with ONJ.	201071	only IV bisphosphonates were	
Akintove Case control study of 337 women Control arm did not have osteonorosis			
	Akintoye	Case control study of 337 women	Control arm did not have osteoporosis.
2012 <sup>72</sup> showing 2.5 odds of BP use in those			
with dental implant failure.		-	

## Table 2. Studies Excluded from Meta-Analysis, and Reason for Exclusion.

Escobedo	Case series of 7 cases of osteonecrosis	Single arm study with inclusion of patients with
2020 <sup>73</sup>	related to implantation.	malignancy.
Tam 2014 <sup>74</sup>	Case series of six patients with ONJ	Single arm study including patients with
	after implantation.	malignancy.

N.B. Many of these studies are included in the ONJ incidence analysis.

Risk of bias was deemed high in seven of the nine studies (Appendix C). All seven studies with high risk of bias failed to statistically adjust for confounders. Other common issues included failure to mention how participants were recruited, duration of follow-up, and whether any participants were lost to follow-up. Publication bias could not be assessed given the limited number of papers.

Random effects meta-analysis revealed a relative risk of 0.82 (95% confidence interval 0.52 -

1.28, p = 0.38) for dental implant failure in osteoporotic patients using antiresorptive therapy,

and RR 1.01 (95% confidence interval 0.97 – 1.05, p = 0.51) for dental implant success. See

Figures 1 and 2 for Forest Plot.

Anti-resorptive therapy			Control (osteopo	orosis)		Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M–H, Random, 95% Cl
Al-Sabbagh 2015 (662)	0	20	0	9		Not estimable	
Cheng 2022	19	124	41	199	84.0%	0.74 [0.45, 1.22]	
Famili 2011	1	22	0	5	2.2%	0.78 [0.04, 16.89]	
Famili 2015	0	2	0	18		Not estimable	
Jeffcoat 2006	0	25	1	25	2.1%	0.33 [0.01, 7.81]	
Kasai 2009	3	11	0	4	2.7%	2.92 [0.18, 46.71]	
Koka 2010	1	54	2	82	3.7%	0.76 [0.07, 8.17]	
Pandey 2019	1	15	1	15	2.9%	1.00 [0.07, 14.55]	
Yajima 2017	3	11	0	14	2.5%	8.75 [0.50, 153.45]	
Total (95% CI)		284		371	100.0%	0.82 [0.52, 1.28]	•
Total events	28		45				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$	0; $Chi^2 = 4.00$ , df =	= 6 (P = 0	$0.68$ ; $I^2 = 0\%$				
Test for overall effect: $Z =$	0.88 (P = 0.38)						0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours Anti-resorptive Favours Contol (OP)

## Figure 1. Forest Plot of Dental Implant Failure (patient level)

	Anti-resorptive	therapy	Control (osteop	orosis)		Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M–H, Random, 95% CI
Al-Sabbagh 2015 (662)	20	20	9	9	6.0%	1.00 [0.85, 1.17]	
Cheng 2022	105	124	158	199	14.0%	1.07 [0.96, 1.18]	+
Famili 2011	21	22	5	5	2.1%	1.02 [0.78, 1.33]	
Famili 2015	2	2	18	18	0.6%	1.00 [0.60, 1.67]	
Jeffcoat 2006	25	25	24	25	12.4%	1.04 [0.93, 1.16]	
Kasai 2009	8	11	4	4	0.7%	0.79 [0.49, 1.25]	
Koka 2010	53	54	80	82	59.1%	1.01 [0.96, 1.06]	<b>+</b>
Pandey 2019	14	15	14	15	4.1%	1.00 [0.83, 1.21]	
Yajima 2017	8	11	14	14	1.1%	0.73 [0.50, 1.07]	
Total (95% CI)		284		371	100.0%	1.01 [0.97, 1.05]	•
Total events	256		326				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$	00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 5.37, df	= 8 (P = 0)	$(0.72); I^2 = 0\%$			—	
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 0.66 (P = 0.51)						0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2 Favours Contol (OP) Favours Anti-resorptive

## Figure 2. Forest Plot of Dental Implant Success (patient level)

We conducted two post-hoc sensitivity meta-analyses of the data. First, we conducted the original analysis at the level of the implant (as opposed to the level of the patient) which did not change the results substantially (Figure 3, dental implant success RR 1.01, 95% confidence interval 0.97 - 1.06, p = 0.55). Second, we excluded Yajima and Kasai given the rate of implant failure in the antiresorptive arm was an order of magnitude above the other studies (27% vs 2%). This did not change the point estimate or confidence interval given their little weight contributing towards the meta-analysis.

	Anti-resorptive	therapy	Control (osteopo	orosis)		Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Random, 95% CI
Al–Sabbagh 2015 (662)	46	46	9	9	7.2%	1.00 [0.86, 1.16]	
Cheng 2022	395	417	558	640	22.3%	1.09 [1.05, 1.13]	+
Famili 2011	74	75	7	7	5.1%	1.05 [0.87, 1.25]	
Famili 2015	2	2	19	19	0.8%	1.00 [0.60, 1.67]	
leffcoat 2006	102	102	107	108	24.1%	1.01 [0.98, 1.04]	+
Kasai 2009	30	35	7	7	3.5%	0.90 [0.72, 1.13]	
Koka 2010	53	54	80	83	18.9%	1.02 [0.96, 1.08]	
Pandey 2019	25	26	31	32	11.8%	0.99 [0.90, 1.10]	<b>_</b>
Yajima 2017	22	25	28	28	6.3%	0.88 [0.75, 1.03]	
Total (95% CI)		782		933	100.0%	1.01 [0.97, 1.06]	
Total events	749		846				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$	$00: Chi^2 = 21.98. d$	f = 8 (P =	$(0.005)$ : $I^2 = 64\%$			-	0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2

## Figure 3. Forest Plot of Dental Implant Success (implant level)

The certainty of evidence with respect of dental implant failure (and success) by GRADE standards was very low. The certainty was low to begin, given the observational nature of the evidence. This was further rated down given serious risk of bias as described above and serious imprecision because the confidence interval includes the possibility of harm and benefit. See Figure 5 for GRADE assessment.

<b>Outcome</b> Timeframe	Study results and measurements	Absolute effe No exposure to anti- resorptives	ect estimates Exposure to anti- resorptives	<b>Certainty of the Evidence</b> (Quality of evidence)	Plain language summary
Dental Implant Success Follow up Variable	Relative risk: 1.01 (CI 95% 0.97 - 1.05) Based on data from 685 participants in 9 studies	<b>871</b> per 1000 Difference: <b>9 r</b> (CI 95% 26 few		Very low Due to serious risk of bias <sup>1</sup> and serious imprecision	We are uncertain whether anti- resorptives increase or reduce dental implant success.

Figure 5. GRADE Assessment of Dental Implant Success Evidence

1. Risk of Bias: serious. Risk of bias was deemed high in seven of the nine observational studies.

## 3.2 Osteonecrosis of the Jaw Outcomes

The 32 eligible studies reported 128 cases of MRONJ in patients who received dental implants

(Table 3). We included the nine dental implant failure studies in addition to eleven

retrospective cohorts,<sup>11,12,18–20,22,32,68,75–78</sup> eleven case series,<sup>10,26–28,79–85</sup> one prospective

cohorts,<sup>57</sup> and one case-control study.<sup>86</sup>

			Total	Total	Exposure	Average years	MRONJ
Author Year	Study Design	Country	sample	Implants		duration (range)	Cases
Mozzati 2015	Retrospective Cohort	Italy	235	1267	Oral BPs	3.3 (0.5-7.3)	0
Lopez-Cedrun					Oral BPs	5 (0.5-10)	
2013	Case series	Spain	7	47			7
					Oral and IV	5 (1.5-14)	
Pichardo 2020	Retrospective Cohort	Netherlands	11	33	BPs		11
Koka 2010	Retrospective Cohort	USA	50	121	BPs	NR: ~3-5	0
Shabestari 2010	Retrospective Cohort	Iran	7	NR	Oral BPs	1.7	0
					Oral and IV	4	
Brugger 2015	Retrospective Cohort	Switzerland	23	NR	BPs		0
Leonida 2012	Retrospective Cohort	Italy	9	54	Oral BPs	All less <3	0
Bell 2008	Retrospective Cohort	USA	42	100	Oral BPs	NR	0
Jeffcoat 2006	Prospective Cohort	USA	25	102	Oral BPs	3	0
					Zoledronic	NR	
					acid 5mg IV		
Siebert 2015	Retrospective Cohort	Slovakia	12	60	yearly		0
					Oral BPs	<1 year n=6	
						1-5 years n=9	
Famili 2011	<b>Retrospective Cohort</b>	USA	22	75		>5 years n=5	0
Goss 2010	Case series	Australia	≥7	19	Oral BPs	~4 (0.2 to 10)	5
Zahid 2011	Retrospective Cohort	USA	26	51	Oral BPs	~3.4 (0.5-16)	0
Giovannacci 2016	Case series	Italy	6	NR	Oral BPs	6 (3-9)	6
					BPs (79%	5 (1-10)	
Kwon 2014	Prospective Cohort	Korea	18	NR	oral)		18
Famili 2015	Case-Control	USA	2	NR	Oral BPs	NR	0
Watts 2019	Prospective Cohort	Multicentre	212	NR	Denosumab	5 years	1
Troeltzsch 2016	Retrospective Cohort	Germany	5	31	Oral BPs	NR	5
Martin 2010	Case series	USA	16	44	Alendronate	3.1 (0.25-5.75)	0
Jacobsen 2013	Case series	Switzerland	5	NR	Oral BPs	4.1	5
Yajima 2017	Retrospective Cohort	Japan	11	25	Alendronate	NR	0
Kasai 2009	Retrospective Cohort	USA	11	35	Alendronate	NR	0
Lazarovici 2010	Case series	Israel	11	NR	BPs (?oral)	Unclear	11
	-		1		BPs (10/15	Oral: 3.8 (0.25-	1
					oral)	10)	
Khoury 2016	Retrospective Cohort	Germany	15	71		IV: 1.4 (1-2.5)	0
Favia 2015	Case series	Italy	12	NR	BPs	NR	12
French 2019	Retrospective Cohort	Canada	34	84	BPs	NR	0
		-	1		Alendronate	~1.5	1
Pandey 2019	Retrospective Cohort	India	15	26	10mg daily	-	0
Al-Sabbagh 2015	Retrospective Cohort	USA	20	46	Oral BPs	NR	0
Otto 2022	Retrospective Cohort	Germany	11	NR	NR	NR	0
Ryu 2021	Case-Control	Korea	22,450	NR	NR	NR	41
-	Case series	Austria	5	NR	NR	NR	5
Holzinger 2014					1 1 1 1 1		
Holzinger 2014		7105110			Oral/IV BPs,	NR	

Table 3. Table of Included Studies Reporting MRONJ in Patients receiving Implants

We only report cases associated with dental implant in patients with osteoporosis or osteopenia. Tilde (~) suggests approximation based on data available.

Given there was only a single comparative study that compared a risk-adjusted difference in both exposed and unexposed patients, we did not conduct a meta-analysis. Of the 20 papers reporting an incidence rate, only Ryu<sup>86</sup> reported the adjusted risk of MRONJ in osteoporotic patients taking bisphosphonates following dental implant placement. Ryu reported 41 events among 9738 (0.4%) osteoporotic dental implant patients taking bisphosphonates, and 11/12712 (0.09%) in a propensity matched osteoporotic cohort undergoing implant placement not taking bisphosphonates (adjusted HR 4.09, 95% CI 2.75 – 6.09, p<0.001, moderate certainty as per GRADE assessment in Figure 6). This translates to 3 more MRONJ cases per 1000 patients with use of bisphosphonates.

We are moderately certain in the causal association between bisphosphonates and osteonecrosis in the context of dental implantation. There were no serious risk of bias, imprecision, indirectness, heterogeneity, or publication bias detected. Given the large sample size, we deemed there was no concern regarding optimal information size. Our certainty increased from low to moderate given the strong association.

Of the 20 papers providing an incidence rate (i.e. providing a denominator of patients at risk), three reported a non-zero incidence rate of MRONJ in dental implant patients exposed to anti-resorptives. Ryu reported a 0.42% rate using nation-wide claims registry data (41/9738) without stating how many underwent extraction. Watts<sup>57</sup> reported an incidence of 0.47% using the denosumab trial long-term extension data: 1 case of adjudicated MRONJ in 212 osteoporotic women who underwent dental implant placement while receiving denosumab, however this

one patient also underwent dental extraction, a known risk factor for MRONJ. Cheng reported an incidence of 0.8%. We conducted a pooled incidence rate of MRONJ demonstrating an incidence rate of 0.4% following implant placement. Of note, some cases included extraction, a known risk factor for ONJ.

		Absolute effect estimates			
Outcome	Study results and	No exposure	Exposure to	Certainty of the Evidence	Plain language
Timeframe	measurements	to anti-	anti-	(Quality of evidence)	summary
		resorptives	resorptives		
		11/12712	41/9738		
Medication	Adjusted Hazard	(0.1%)	(0.4%)		Anti-resorptives
Related	Ratio: 4.09				probably increase
Osteonecrosis	(CI 95% 2.75 – 6.09)	Difference: <b>3 more per</b> <b>1,000</b>		Moderate	the risk of
of the Jaw	Based on data from			Observational study with	osteonecrosis in
	22,450 participants			large effect.	dental implant
Follow up	in 1 study	(Cl 95% 2 more - 4 more)			patients with
unclear					osteoporosis

## Figure 6. GRADE Evidence Table for MRONJ Excess Risk

## **Chapter 4. Discussion**

#### 4.1 Summary of Findings

We conducted a systematic review to inform recommendations for an International Task Force on dental implant outcomes in patients osteoporosis on anti-resorptive therapy. Taken together, the nine comparative studies are very uncertain whether antiresorptive therapy increases or decreases the risk of dental implant failure in patients with osteoporosis or osteopenia. Reasons for the very low certainty of the evidence included the observational nature of the studies and the high risk of bias associated with the individual study methodologies. Sensitivity analyses by considering dental implant success (as opposed failure), and analysis at the level of the implant, did not change the certainty.

A single study calculated risk adjusted rates of MRONJ providing moderate certainty that bisphosphonates cause 3 more events of MRONJ per 1000 patients. Our best estimate of MRONJ incidence after implant placement while undergoing antiresorptive therapy is 0.4% (1 case among 250 osteoporotic patients receiving dental implants) in the pooled analysis including some concomitant dental extraction.

## 4.2 Relationship to Other Reviews

Several systematic reviews of dental implant survival in persons taking anti-resorptives,<sup>8,9,56,87–99</sup> four of which include a meta-analysis,<sup>87,88,99,100</sup> have been published and similarly provided very low certainty evidence. While the earlier studies tended to mix high and low dose

antiresorptive patients, sometimes without acknowledging their presence, more recent studies have generally avoided this mistake. Some studies include control groups. The follow-up times vary from a few months to seven years, with a mean of approximately three years. It is notable that universal agreement already exists that dental implants placed face worse outcomes in patients taking high doses of antiresorptives, when compared to implants placed in patients taking low doses of antiresorptives, particularly with respect with MRONJ and associated implant failure. More recent review articles have begun to coalesce around the general idea that dental implant survival in patients taking low doses of antiresorptives does not differ from dental implant survival in either untreated patients with osteoporosis or healthy patients of a similar age.

## 4.3 Strengths

The strengths of our review include addressing all the aforementioned issues and in particular we were careful to ensure our control populations were matched for osteoporosis to avoid confounding by indication. We followed the GRADE approach to assess the certainty of evidence<sup>65</sup>, as well as best-practice reporting standards. Finally, we sought out data from many authors, and were successful in 9 requests, allowing for the additional inclusion of 6 studies.

## 4.4 Limitations

Our study faces limitations both from our approach, as well as the evidence itself. We engaged in several additional sensitivity analyses. Notably, our primary analysis changed during the review process at the suggestion of a reviewer. Although the reasons for switching are

reasonable, this was post-hoc in context of all the data being available, potentially introducing bias. This is somewhat mitigated by the fact that the absolute risk difference is identical with both approaches, indicating no important difference.

With respect to the evidence, there were few comparative studies on dental implant outcomes and only one risk-adjusted study for MRONJ. The implant studies were generally small, at high risk of bias with poor reporting, and were highly heterogenous with regards to populations studied, dose and duration of treatment, comparator, and follow-up. We have significant concerns about unresolved confounding by indication: Patients with osteoporosis who receive treatment are likely to have a higher fracture risk and worse bone quality compared to those who do not receive treatment.

Given the limited data we cannot answer key clinical questions including whether cessation of antiresorptives reduces the risk of implant failure or MRONJ, or when to time surgery relative to antiresorptive dosing. Similarly, our data does not bear upon the extent to which antiresorptive treatment duration predicts MRONJ. The ECTS suggests continuing antiresorptives in those at low MRONJ risk undergoing dental work, whereas in high-risk patients they recommend considering holding bisphosphonates and waiting until the end of the dosing cycle for those receiving denosumab.

There is important heterogeneity in the osteoporosis literature, treatment indications vary enormously by year and location, which allows prognostically different populations to be

pooled in the meta-analyses, and worse, in an uncontrolled fashion. The historic paradigm based treatment decisions on bone mineral density, and even therein there was heterogeneity in the T-score cut-off. Since the early 2000s, the current paradigm shifted towards treatment by fracture risk.<sup>101</sup> Within the current paradigm, primary prevention is indicated in patients with a high 10 year risk of major osteoporotic fracture. Even this cut-off varies dramatically (two-fold) by locale: the cut-off ranges between 10% when low bone mass is present in the recent NHS Scotland guidelines<sup>102</sup>, to 15% in Japan<sup>103</sup>, and 20% in Canada<sup>104</sup> and the United States<sup>105</sup>.

#### 4.5 Analytic Considerations

We planned and initially analyzed our data with respect to dental implant failures given this was the event of interest. One reviewer felt we should change this for two broad classes of reasons. First, relating to methodology, the reviewer suggested studies with no dental implant failures could contribute to the analysis if we looked implant success instead (allowing the inclusion of two more studies), and moreover we would generate a more precise estimate given the event rate was no longer rare. The second broad reason relates to the dental implant literature: the reviewer suggested the literature ought to shift towards the outcome of 'implant success' given high rates of success, typically close to 96% at a decade.<sup>106</sup>

Consider the primary patient-level analyses with respect to 'implant failure' and 'implant success'. The direction of the point estimate in both favour exposure to anti-resorptive therapy (a trivial RR of 1.01 in the success analysis, while moderately in favour in the failure analysis with RR 0.82). In both cases, the confidence intervals cross the null line. There is no serious

inconsistency in the estimates between the two analyses. The certainty of evidence in both are similarly very low.

One of the reasons the estimates appear so different when using a relative risk is that the baseline rate of the event in question (success versus failure) is very different between these two analyses. That is to say, the baseline rate of dental implant failure is between 2% versus the rate of dental implant success in 98% at short-term follow-up. The absolute difference exposes that this apparent difference is a small one (given the rarity of dental implant failure). The risk difference in the failure analysis (RR 0.82) amounts to -1% in those exposed to anti-resorptives, and our RR 1.01 of success amounts to +1%. The effect of anti-resorptives is small regardless of the direction given the rarity of the implant failure, especially in context of a small relative risk. Therefore our conclusion of the absolute effect, which we believe is the most transparent way to discuss dental implant failure rates, is identical regardless of outcome definition.

## 4.6 Implications

Our systematic review provides the most up-to-date, comprehensive, and methodologically rigorous assessment. Because the evidence is very limited, and it is difficult or impossible to prove a negative, we contend the evidence does not suggest an association between antiresorptive therapy and implant failure. Whereas use of antiresorptive therapy appears to increase the risk of MRONJ by about 3 cases per 1000 patients with osteoporosis undergoing dental implantation. Decisions regarding antiresorptive therapy should be made with respect to factors beyond implant failure, such as skeletal health, adverse effects such as MRONJ, and

costs of therapy. High-quality randomized-controlled trials to increase the certainty of evidence are encouraged, such as whether discontinuation of anti-resorptives pre-procedurally is associated with less dental or greater skeletal events. Similarly, controlled studies of higher quality that include adjusted analyses, include patients with long-term exposure to low doses antiresorptives, and evaluate dental implant survival at 10 years are recommended.

## Chapter 5. References

- Shoback D, Rosen CJ, Black DM, Cheung AM, Murad MH, Eastell R. Pharmacological Management of Osteoporosis in Postmenopausal Women: An Endocrine Society Guideline Update. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 2020;105(3):587-594. doi:10.1210/clinem/dgaa048
- Camacho PM, Petak SM, Binkley N, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists/American College of Endocrinology Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Postmenopausal Osteoporosis—2020 Update. *Endocrine Practice*. 2020;26:1-46. doi:10.4158/GL-2020-0524SUPPL
- 3. Brown JP, Morin S, Leslie W, et al. Bisphosphonates for treatment of osteoporosis: expected benefits, potential harms, and drug holidays. *Canadian Family Physician*. 2014;60(4):324-333.
- 4. Van Poznak CH, Temin S, Yee GC, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline update on the role of bone-modifying agents in metastatic breast cancer. *J Oncol Pract*. 2011;7(2):117-121.
- 5. Conte PF, Latreille J, Mauriac L, et al. Delay in progression of bone metastases in breast cancer patients treated with intravenous pamidronate: results from a multinational randomized controlled trial. The Aredia Multinational Cooperative Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 1996;14(9):2552-2559.
- 6. Baron R, Ferrari S, Russell RGG. Denosumab and bisphosphonates: Different mechanisms of action and effects. *Bone*. 2011;48(4):677-692. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2010.11.020
- 7. Tabrizi R, Behnia H, Taherian S, Hesami N. What Are the Incidence and Factors Associated With Implant Fracture? *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2017;75(9):1866-1872. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2017.05.014
- 8. Papadakis I, Spanou A, Kalyvas D. Success rate and safety of dental implantology in patients treated with antiresorptive medication: A systematic review. *Journal of Oral Implantology*. 2021;47(2). doi:10.1563/AAID-JOI-D-19-00088
- 9. Gelazius R, Poskevicius L, Sakavicius D, Grimuta V, Juodzbalys G. Dental Implant Placement in Patients on Bisphosphonate Therapy: a Systematic Review. *J Oral Maxillofac Res*. 2018;9(3). doi:10.5037/jomr.2018.9302
- Goss A, Bartold M, Sambrook P, Hawker P. The Nature and Frequency of Bisphosphonate-Associated Osteonecrosis of the Jaws in Dental Implant Patients: A South Australian Case Series. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*. 2010;68(2):337-343. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2009.09.037
- 11. Bell BM, Bell RE. Oral Bisphosphonates and Dental Implants: A Retrospective Study. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*. 2008;66(5):1022-1024. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2007.12.040
- 12. Zahid TM, Wang BY, Cohen RE. Influence of Bisphosphonates on Alveolar Bone Loss Around Osseointegrated Implants. *Journal of Oral Implantology*. 2011;37(3):335-346. doi:10.1563/aaid-joi-d-09-00114
- 13. Al-Sabbagh M, Robinson FG, Romanos G, Thomas M V. Osteoporosis and bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis in a dental school implant patient population.
*Implant Dent*. 2015;24(3 PG-328-32):328-332. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/ID.000000000000234

- Famili P, Quigley S, Mosher T. Survival of dental implants among post-menopausal female dental school patients taking oral bisphosphonates: a retrospective study. *Compend Contin Educ Dent*. 2011;32(6 PG-E106-9):E106-9. https://libaccess.mcmaster.ca/login?url=http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC= Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med8&AN=23738968http://sfx.scholarsportal.info/mcma ster?sid=OVID:medline&id=pmid:23738968&id=doi:&issn=1548- 8578&isbn=&volume=32&issue=6&spage=E10
- 15. Jeffcoat MK. Safety of oral bisphosphonates: controlled studies on alveolar bone. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2006;21(3 PG-349-53):349-353. https://libaccess.mcmaster.ca/login?url=http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC= Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med6&AN=16796276http://sfx.scholarsportal.info/mcma ster?sid=OVID:medline&id=pmid:16796276&id=doi:&issn=0882-2786&isbn=&volume=21&issue=3&spage=349
- 16. Pandey A, Verma S, Malhan S, Mittal N, Chaudhary A, Gera T. Evaluation of Effect of Bisphosphonates on Dental Implant Therapy in Postmenopausal Women Using Cone Beam Computed Tomography. J Contemp Dent Pract. 2019;20(1 PG-51-55):51-55. https://libaccess.mcmaster.ca/login?url=http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC= Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med16&AN=31102395http://sfx.scholarsportal.info/mcm aster?sid=OVID:medline&id=pmid:31102395&id=doi:&issn=1526-3711&isbn=&volume=20&issue=1&spage=51
- 17. Fugazzotto PA, Lightfoot WS, Jaffin R, Kumar A. Implant placement with or without simultaneous tooth extraction in patients taking oral bisphosphonates: postoperative healing, early follow-up, and the incidence of complications in two private practices. *J Periodontol*. 2007;78(9):1664-1669. doi:10.1902/jop.2007.060514
- 18. Shabestari GO, Shayesteh YS, Khojasteh A, et al. Implant placement in patients with oral bisphosphonate therapy: a case series. *Clin Implant Dent Relat Res*. 2010;12(3 PG-175-80):175-180. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1708-8208.2009.00150.x
- 19. Koka S, Babu NM, Norell A. Survival of dental implants in post-menopausal bisphosphonate users. *J Prosthodont Res*. 2010;54(3 PG-108-11):108-111. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpor.2010.04.002
- Leonida A, Vescovi P, Baldoni M, Rossi G, Lauritano D. Immediate loading in mandible full-arch: pilot study in patients with osteoporosis in bisphosphonate therapy. *J Oral Implantol.* 2012;38(1 PG-85-94):85-94. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1563/AAID-JOI-D-09-00132.1
- Al-Sabbagh M, Thomas M V, Bhavsar I, De Leeuw R. Effect of Bisphosphonate and Age on Implant Failure as Determined by Patient-Reported Outcomes. *J Oral Implantol*. 2015;41(6 PG-e287-91):e287-91. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1563/aaid-joi-D-14-00195
- 22. Siebert T, Jurkovic R, Statelova D, Strecha J. Immediate Implant Placement in a Patient With Osteoporosis Undergoing Bisphosphonate Therapy: 1-Year Preliminary Prospective Study. J Oral Implantol. 2015;41 Spec No(PG-360-5):360-365. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1563/AAID-JOI-D-13-00063

- 23. Tallarico M, Canullo L, Xhanari E, Meloni SM. Dental implants treatment outcomes in patient under active therapy with alendronate: 3-year follow-up results of a multicenter prospective observational study. *Clin Oral Implants Res*. 2016;27(8 PG-943-9):943-949. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/clr.12662
- 24. Grant BT, Amenedo C, Freeman K, Kraut RA. Outcomes of Placing Dental Implants in Patients Taking Oral Bisphosphonates: A Review of 115 Cases. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*. 2008;66(2):223-230. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2007.09.019
- 25. Yip JK, Borrell LN, Cho SC, Francisco H, Tarnow DP. Association between oral bisphosphonate use and dental implant failure among middle-aged women. *J Clin Periodontol*. 2012;39(4):408-414. doi:10.1111/j.1600-051x.2012.01854.x
- 26. Lazarovici TS, Yahalom R, Taicher S, Schwartz-Arad D, Peleg O, Yarom N. Bisphosphonaterelated osteonecrosis of the jaw associated with dental implants. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2010;68(4):790-796. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2009.09.017
- 27. Pichardo SEC, van der Hee JG, Fiocco M, Appelman-Dijkstra NM, van Merkesteyn JPR. Dental implants as risk factors for patients with medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaws (MRONJ). *British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*. 2020;58(7):771-776. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjoms.2020.03.022
- 28. Martin DC, O'Ryan FS, Indresano AT, et al. Characteristics of implant failures in patients with a history of oral bisphosphonate therapy. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2010;68(3):508-514. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2009.09.055
- 29. Kasai T, Pogrel MA, Hossaini M. The prognosis for dental implants placed in patients taking oral bisphosphonates. J Calif Dent Assoc. 2009;37(1 PG-39-42):39-42. https://libaccess.mcmaster.ca/login?url=http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC= Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med7&AN=19263627http://sfx.scholarsportal.info/mcma ster?sid=OVID:medline&id=pmid:19263627&id=doi:&issn=1043-2256&isbn=&volume=37&issue=1&spage=39&
- Yajima N, Munakata M, Fuchigami K, Sanda M, Kasugai S. Influence of Bisphosphonates on Implant Failure Rates and Characteristics of Postmenopausal Woman Mandibular Jawbone. J Oral Implantol. 2017;43(5 PG-345-349):345-349. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1563/aaid-joi-D-17-00015
- 31. Memon S, Weltman RL, Katancik JA. Oral bisphosphonates: early endosseous dental implant success and crestal bone changes. A retrospective study. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants*. 2012;27(5):1216-1222. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23057037
- 32. Mozzati M, Arata V, Giacomello M, et al. Failure risk estimates after dental implants placement associated with plasma rich in growth factor-Endoret in osteoporotic women under bisphosphonate therapy. *J Craniofac Surg.* 2015;26(3 PG-749-55):749-755. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/SCS.00000000001535
- Ruggiero SL, Dodson TB, Aghaloo T, Carlson ER, Ward BB, Kademani D. American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons' Position Paper on Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaws—2022 Update. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*. 2022;80(5):920-943. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2022.02.008
- 34. Anastasilakis AD, Pepe J, Napoli N, et al. Osteonecrosis of the Jaw and Antiresorptive Agents in Benign and Malignant Diseases: A Critical Review Organized by the ECTS. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 2022;107(5):1441-1460. doi:10.1210/clinem/dgab888

- 35. Khan AA, Morrison A, Hanley DA, et al. Diagnosis and Management of Osteonecrosis of the Jaw: A Systematic Review and International Consensus. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*. 2015;30(1):3-23. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2405
- 36. Khosla S, Burr D, Cauley J, et al. Bisphosphonate-Associated Osteonecrosis of the Jaw: Report of a Task Force of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*. 2007;22(10):1479-1491. doi:10.1359/jbmr.0707onj
- Ruggiero SL, Dodson TB, Fantasia J, et al. American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons Position Paper on Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw—2014 Update. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*. 2014;72(10):1938-1956. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2014.04.031
- 38. Tenore G, Palaia G, Gaimari G, et al. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaws (MRONJ): Etiological update. *Senses and Sciences*. 2014;1(4).
- Advisory Task Force on Bisphosphonate-Related Ostenonecrosis of the Jaws AA of O and MS. American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons position paper on bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaws. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2007;65(3):369-376. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2006.11.003
- 40. Ruggiero SL, Dodson TB, Assael LA, et al. American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons position paper on bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaws--2009 update. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2009;67(5 Suppl):2-12. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2009.01.009
- Kuroshima S, Al-Omari FA, Sasaki M, Sawase T. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: A literature review and update. *genesis*. 2022;60(8-9):e23500. doi:10.1002/dvg.23500
- 42. Rugani P, Walter C, Kirnbauer B, Acham S, Begus-Nahrman Y, Jakse N. Prevalence of Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw in Patients with Breast Cancer, Prostate Cancer, and Multiple Myeloma. *Dent J (Basel)*. 2016;4(4). doi:10.3390/dj4040032
- 43. Aghaloo T, Hazboun R, Tetradis S. Pathophysiology of Osteonecrosis of the Jaws. *Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am*. 2015;27(4):489-496. doi:10.1016/j.coms.2015.06.001
- 44. Kim HY. Review and Update of the Risk Factors and Prevention of Antiresorptive-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw. *Endocrinol Metab (Seoul)*. 2021;36(5):917-927. doi:10.3803/EnM.2021.1170
- 45. Wat WZM. Current Controversies on the Pathogenesis of Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw. *Dent J (Basel)*. 2016;4(4). doi:10.3390/dj4040038
- 46. Schiodt M, Otto S, Fedele S, et al. Workshop of European task force on medicationrelated osteonecrosis of the jaw-Current challenges. *Oral Dis*. 2019;25(7):1815-1821. doi:10.1111/odi.13160
- 47. Aguirre JI, Castillo EJ, Kimmel DB. Preclinical models of medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw (MRONJ). *Bone*. 2021;153:116184. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2021.116184
- 48. Bansal H. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: An update. *Natl J Maxillofac Surg*. 2022;13(1):5-10. doi:10.4103/njms.NJMS\_236\_20
- Ruggiero SL, Dodson TB, Fantasia J, et al. American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons Position Paper on Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw—2014 Update. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2014;72(10):1938-1956. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2014.04.031

- 50. Adler RA, El-Hajj Fuleihan G, Bauer DC, et al. Managing Osteoporosis in Patients on Long-Term Bisphosphonate Treatment: Report of a Task Force of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*. 2016;31(1):16-35. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2708
- 51. Hellstein JW, Adler RA, Edwards B, et al. Managing the care of patients receiving antiresorptive therapy for prevention and treatment of osteoporosis: executive summary of recommendations from the American Dental Association Council on Scientific Affairs. J Am Dent Assoc. 2011;142(11):1243-1251. doi:10.14219/jada.archive.2011.0108
- 52. Khamaisi M, Regev E, Yarom N, et al. Possible Association between Diabetes and Bisphosphonate-Related Jaw Osteonecrosis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 2007;92(3):1172-1175. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-2036
- 53. Mavrokokki T, Cheng A, Stein B, Goss A. Nature and frequency of bisphosphonateassociated osteonecrosis of the jaws in Australia. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2007;65(3):415-423. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2006.10.061
- 54. Yarom N, Yahalom R, Shoshani Y, Hamed W, Regev E, Elad S. Osteonecrosis of the jaw induced by orally administered bisphosphonates: incidence, clinical features, predisposing factors and treatment outcome. *Osteoporos Int*. 2007;18(10):1363-1370. doi:10.1007/s00198-007-0384-2
- Saad F, Brown JE, Van Poznak C, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and outcomes of osteonecrosis of the jaw: integrated analysis from three blinded active-controlled phase III trials in cancer patients with bone metastases. *Ann Oncol.* 2012;23(5):1341-1347. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdr435
- 56. Guazzo R, Sbricoli L, Ricci S, Bressan E, Piattelli A, Iaculli F. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw and dental implants failures: A systematic review. *Journal of Oral Implantology*. 2017;43(1). doi:10.1563/aaid-joi-16-00057
- 57. Watts NB, Grbic JT, Binkley N, et al. Invasive Oral Procedures and Events in Postmenopausal Women With Osteoporosis Treated With Denosumab for Up to 10 Years. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104(6):2443-2452. doi:10.1210/jc.2018-01965
- Fizazi K, Carducci M, Smith M, et al. Denosumab versus zoledronic acid for treatment of bone metastases in men with castration-resistant prostate cancer: a randomised, double-blind study. *The Lancet*. 2011;377(9768):813-822. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(10)62344-6
- 59. Henry DH, Costa L, Goldwasser F, et al. Randomized, Double-Blind Study of Denosumab Versus Zoledronic Acid in the Treatment of Bone Metastases in Patients With Advanced Cancer (Excluding Breast and Prostate Cancer) or Multiple Myeloma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 2011;29(9):1125-1132. doi:10.1200/jco.2010.31.3304
- 60. Yamashita J, McCauley LK. Antiresorptives and Osteonecrosis of the Jaw. *Journal of Evidence Based Dental Practice*. 2012;12(3, Supplement):233-247. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S1532-3382(12)70046-5
- 61. Khan AA, Morrison A, Kendler DL, et al. Case-Based Review of Osteonecrosis of the Jaw (ONJ) and Application of the International Recommendations for Management From the International Task Force on ONJ. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry*. 2017;20(1):8-24. doi:10.1016/j.jocd.2016.09.005

- 62. Clauser C, Sforza N, Menini I, Kalemaj Z, Buti J. Immediate Postextraction Single-Tooth Implants and Provisional Crowns in the Esthetic Area: 2-year Results of a Cohort Prospective Multicenter Study— Patient-Centered Outcomes. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants*. 2020;35(4):833-840. doi:10.11607/jomi.7203
- 63. Busse JW, Guyatt G. Modified Ottawa Newcastle Risk of Bias Tool. https://www.evidencepartners.com/resources/methodological-resources/tool-to-assessrisk-of-bias-in-cohort-studies-distillersr
- 64. Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, et al. The Newcastle–Ottawa Scale (NOQAS) for Assessing the Quality of Non-Randomized Studies in Meta-Analysis. Available at http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical epidemiology/oxford.asp. The Ottawa Hospital.
- 65. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ*. 2008;336(7650):924-926. doi:10.1136/bmj.39489.470347.AD
- 66. Zeng L, Brignardello-Petersen R, Hultcrantz M, et al. GRADE guidelines 32: GRADE offers guidance on choosing targets of GRADE certainty of evidence ratings. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2021;137:163-175. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2021.03.026
- 67. Famili P, Zavoral JM. Low Skeletal Bone Mineral Density Does Not Affect Dental Implants. *J Oral Implantol*. 2015;41(5 PG-550-3):550-553. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1563/aaid-joi-D-13-00282
- Cheng YC, Ewers R, Morgan K, et al. Antiresorptive therapy and dental implant survival: an up to 20-year retrospective cohort study in women. *Clin Oral Investig*. 2022;26(11):6569-6582. doi:10.1007/s00784-022-04609-4
- 69. Kim JY, Choi H, Park JH, Jung HD, Jung YS. Effects of anti-resorptive drugs on implant survival and peri-implantitis in patients with existing osseointegrated dental implants: a retrospective cohort study. *Osteoporos Int*. 2020;31(9):1749-1758. doi:10.1007/s00198-019-05257-3
- 70. Albandar JM. Oral Bisphosphonate Therapy may not Significantly Compromise Dental Implants Success. *Journal of Evidence-Based Dental Practice*. 2008;8(4). doi:10.1016/j.jebdp.2008.09.007
- 71. Skrepnek GH, Seal B, Tangirala M, Jeffcoat MK, Watts NB, Hay JW. Adverse events and intravenous versus oral bisphosphonate use in patients with osteoporosis and cancer in the U.S. *Gen Dent*. 2010;58(6).
- 72. Akintoye SO. Dental implant failure in middle-aged women may be associated with positive history of oral bisphosphonate treatment. *Journal of Evidence-Based Dental Practice*. 2012;12(4). doi:10.1016/j.jebdp.2012.09.012
- 73. Escobedo MF, Cobo JL, Junquera S, Milla J, Olay S, Junquera LM. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw. Implant presence-triggered osteonecrosis: Case series and literature review. *J Stomatol Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2020;121(1). doi:10.1016/j.jormas.2019.04.012
- 74. Tam Y, Kar K, Nowzari H, Cha HS, Ahn KM. Osteonecrosis of the Jaw after Implant Surgery in Patients Treated with Bisphosphonates A Presentation of Six Consecutive Cases. *Clin Implant Dent Relat Res.* 2014;16(5):751-761. doi:10.1111/cid.12048

- 75. Khoury F, Hidajat H. Extensive Autogenous Bone Augmentation and Implantation in Patients Under Bisphosphonate Treatment: A 15-Case Series. *Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent*. 2016;36(1 PG-9-18):9-18. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.11607/prd.2608
- Brugger OE, Bornstein MM, Kuchler U, Janner SFM, Chappuis V, Buser D. Implant Therapy in a Surgical Specialty Clinic: An Analysis of Patients, Indications, Surgical Procedures, Risk Factors, and Early Failures. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants*. 2015;30(1 PG-151-160):151-160.
- 77. French D, Grandin HM, Ofec R. Retrospective cohort study of 4,591 dental implants: Analysis of risk indicators for bone loss and prevalence of peri-implant mucositis and peri-implantitis. *J Periodontol*. 2019;90(7 PG-691-700):691-700. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/JPER.18-0236
- Otto S, Hafner S, Mast G, et al. Bisphosphonate-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw: Is pH the Missing Part in the Pathogenesis Puzzle? *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*. 2010;68(5):1158-1161. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2009.07.079
- 79. Lopez-Cedrun JL, Sanroman JF, Garcia A, et al. Oral bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaws in dental implant patients: a case series. *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2013;51(8 PG-874-9):874-879. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bjoms.2013.06.011
- Giovannacci I, Meleti M, Manfredi M, et al. Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw Around Dental Implants: Implant Surgery-Triggered or Implant Presence-Triggered Osteonecrosis? J Craniofac Surg. 2016;27(3 PG-697-701):697-701. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/SCS.00000000002564
- Kwon TG, Lee CO, Park JW, Choi SY, Rijal G, Shin HI. Osteonecrosis associated with dental implants in patients undergoing bisphosphonate treatment. *Clin Oral Implants Res*. 2014;25(5 PG-632-40):632-640. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/clr.12088
- 82. Troeltzsch M, Cagna D, Stahler P, et al. Clinical features of peri-implant medicationrelated osteonecrosis of the jaw: Is there an association to peri-implantitis? J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2016;44(12 PG-1945-1951):1945-1951. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcms.2016.09.018
- Jacobsen C, Metzler P, Rossle M, Obwegeser J, Zemann W, Gratz KW. Osteopathology induced by bisphosphonates and dental implants: clinical observations. *Clin Oral Investig*. 2013;17(1 PG-167-75):167-175. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00784-012-0708-2
- 84. Favia G, Tempesta A, Limongelli L, Crincoli V, Piattelli A, Maiorano E. Bisphosphonaterelated osteonecrosis of the jaw around osteointegrated dental implants: Macroscopic and microscopic aspects on 12 osteoporotic patients. *Virchows Archiv*. 2015;467(1 PG-S77):S77. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00428-015-1805-9
- Holzinger D, Seemann R, Matoni N, Ewers R, Millesi W, Wutzl A. Effect of dental implants on bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaws. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2014;72(10):1937.e1-8. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2014.04.037
- 86. Ryu JI, Kim HY, Kwon YD. Is implant surgery a risk factor for osteonecrosis of the jaw in older adult patients with osteoporosis? A national cohort propensity score-matched study. *Clin Oral Implants Res*. 2021;32(4):437-447. doi:10.1111/clr.13713
- 87. Chappuis V, Avila-Ortiz G, Araújo MG, Monje A. Medication-related dental implant failure: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Oral Implants Res.* 2018;29. doi:10.1111/clr.13137

- 88. Stavropoulos A, Bertl K, Pietschmann P, Pandis N, Schiødt M, Klinge B. The effect of antiresorptive drugs on implant therapy: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Oral Implants Res.* 2018;29. doi:10.1111/clr.13282
- 89. Kumar MN, Honne T. Survival of dental implants in bisphosphonate users versus nonusers: a systematic review. *Eur J Prosthodont Restor Dent*. 2012;20(4).
- 90. Walter C, Al-Nawas B, Wolff T, Schiegnitz E, Grötz KA. Dental implants in patients treated with antiresorptive medication a systematic literature review. *Int J Implant Dent*. 2016;2(1). doi:10.1186/s40729-016-0041-7
- 91. Schmitt CM, Buchbender M, Lutz R, Neukam FW. Oral implant survival in patients with bisphosphonate (BP)/antiresorptive and radiation therapy and their impact on osteonecrosis of the jaws. A systematic review. *Eur J Oral Implantol.* 2018;11.
- 92. Mendes V, dos Santos GO, Calasans-Maia MD, Granjeiro JM, Moraschini V. Impact of bisphosphonate therapy on dental implant outcomes: An overview of systematic review evidence. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2019;48(3). doi:10.1016/j.ijom.2018.09.006
- 93. Owen B, Bradley H. Is it safe to place implants in patients at risk of MRONJ? *Evid Based Dent*. 2021;22(3). doi:10.1038/s41432-021-0196-9
- 94. Sher J, Kirkham-Ali K, Luo JD, Miller C, Sharma D. Dental implant placement in patients with a history of medications related to osteonecrosis of the jaws: A systematic review. *Journal of Oral Implantology*. 2021;47(3). doi:10.1563/aaid-joi-D-19-00351
- 95. de-Freitas NR, Lima LB, de-Moura MB, Veloso-Guedes C do CF, Simamoto-Júnior PC, de-Magalhães D. Bisphosphonate treatment and dental implants: A systematic review. *Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal*. 2016;21(5). doi:10.4317/medoral.20920
- 96. Javed F, Almas K. Osseointegration of Dental Implants in Patients Undergoing Bisphosphonate Treatment: A Literature Review. *J Periodontol*. 2010;81(4). doi:10.1902/jop.2009.090587
- 97. Madrid C, Sanz M. What impact do systemically administrated bisphosphonates have on oral implant therapy? A systematic review. *Clin Oral Implants Res*. 2009;20(SUPPL. 4). doi:10.1111/j.1600-0501.2009.01772.x
- 98. Chadha GK, Ahmadieh A, Kumar S, Sedghizadeh PP. Osseointegration of dental implants and osteonecrosis of the jaw in patients treated with bisphosphonate therapy: A systematic review. *Journal of Oral Implantology*. 2013;39(4). doi:10.1563/AAID-JOI-D-11-00234
- 99. Ata-Ali J, Ata-Ali F, Peñarrocha-Oltra D, Galindo-Moreno P. What is the impact of bisphosphonate therapy upon dental implant survival? A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Clin Oral Implants Res.* 2016;27(2). doi:10.1111/clr.12526
- 100. Chrcanovic BR, Albrektsson T, Wennerberg A. Bisphosphonates and dental implants: A meta-analysis. *Quintessence Int*. 2016;47(4). doi:10.3290/j.qi.a35523
- 101. Kanis JA, Oden A, Johnell O, et al. The use of clinical risk factors enhances the performance of BMD in the prediction of hip and osteoporotic fractures in men and women. *Osteoporosis International*. 2007;18(8). doi:10.1007/s00198-007-0343-y
- 102. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. Management of osteoporosis and the prevention of fragility fractures A national clinical guideline. Published online 2021.

- 103. Orimo H, Nakamura T, Hosoi T, et al. Japanese 2011 guidelines for prevention and treatment of osteoporosis-executive summary. *Arch Osteoporos*. 2012;7(1-2). doi:10.1007/s11657-012-0109-9
- 104. Lentle B, Cheung AM, Hanley DA, et al. Osteoporosis Canada 2010 guidelines for the assessment of fracture risk. *Canadian Association of Radiologists Journal*. 2011;62(4). doi:10.1016/j.carj.2011.05.001
- 105. Cosman F, de Beur SJ, LeBoff MS, et al. Clinician's Guide to Prevention and Treatment of Osteoporosis. *Osteoporosis International*. 2014;25(10). doi:10.1007/s00198-014-2794-2
- 106. French D, Ofec R, Levin L. Long term clinical performance of 10 871 dental implants with up to 22 years of follow-up: A cohort study in 4247 patients. *Clin Implant Dent Relat Res*. 2021;23(3). doi:10.1111/cid.12994

## Chapter 6. Appendix

### Appendix A. PRISMA Diagram (2020 version)



### Appendix B: Search Strategy

### 2022 Summary of search and strategy Dental Implant

Database	total	since Nov
		2020
MEDLINE	406	26
EMBASE	510	72
Cochrane Central	43	5
CINAHL	164	17
Web of Science	380	26
Subtotal	1503	146
-dupes		
Total		

Total screened = 692 from Nov 2020 plus

Jan 19, 2022

MEDLINE

Database: OVID Medline Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, Ovid

MEDLINE(R) Daily and Ovid MEDLINE(R) 1946 to Present

Search Strategy:

-----

- 1 Dental Implants/ (24357)
- 2 exp Dental Implantation/ (22957)
- 3 Dental Restoration Failure/ (8842)
- 4 ((dental or tooth or teeth) adj3 implant\*).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of

substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word,

#### MSc Thesis – Reza Mirza; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms] (46971)

5 ((dental or tooth or teeth) and (implant adj3 (failure or loss))).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms] (3204)

6 or/1-5 (51244)

7 exp Bone Density Conservation Agents/ (138834)

8 exp Diphosphonates/ (27165)

9 (Bisphosphonate\* or alendron\* or risedron\* or zoledron\* or etidron\* or clodron\* or ibandron\* or pamidron\*).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms] (29832)

10 or/7-9 (151183)

11 6 and 10 (445)

- 12 limit 11 to yr="2003 -Current" (406)
- 13 limit 12 to ed=20201110-20220122 (26)

EMBASE (OVID)

Database: Embase <1974 to 2022 January 18>

MSc Thesis - Reza Mirza; McMaster University - Health Research Methodology

Search Strategy:

\_\_\_\_\_

- 1 exp tooth implant/ (16538)
- 2 tooth implantation/ (27539)
- 3 dental restoration/ (5775)
- 4 ((dental or tooth or teeth) adj3 implant\*).mp. (44332)
- 5 ((dental or tooth or teeth) and (implant adj3 (failure or loss))).mp. (3119)
- 6 or/1-5 (48885)
- 7 bone density conservation agent/ (3863)
- 8 exp bisphosphonic acid derivative/ (71706)
- 9 (Bisphosphonate\* or alendron\* or risedron\* or zoledron\* or etidron\* or clodron\* or
- ibandron\* or pamidron\*).mp. (63151)
- 10 or/7-9 (78117)
- 11 6 and 10 (525)
- 12 limit 11 to yr="2003 -Current" (510)
- 13 limit 12 to dc=20201110-20220119 (72)

Cochrane Library (Wiley)

Search Name: 2020-11-10 dental implant

Date Run: 19/01/2022 17:27:43

MSc Thesis - Reza Mirza; McMaster University - Health Research Methodology

Comment:

ID Search Hits

- #1 MeSH descriptor: [Dental Implants] explode all trees 1577
- #2 MeSH descriptor: [Dental Implantation] explode all trees 1342
- #3 MeSH descriptor: [Dental Restoration Failure] explode all trees 1091
- #4 ((dental or tooth or teeth) near/3 implant\*) 3750
- #5 ((dental or tooth or teeth) and (implant near/3 (failure or loss))) 499
- #6 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 4410
- #7 MeSH descriptor: [Bone Density Conservation Agents] explode all trees 1671
- #8 MeSH descriptor: [Diphosphonates] explode all trees 2651
- #9 Bisphosphonate\* or alendron\* or risedron\* or zoledron\* or etidron\* or clodron\* or

ibandron\* or pamidron\* 6156

- #10 #7 or #8 or #9 6940
- #11 #6 and #10 with Cochrane Library publication date Between Jan 2003 and Jan 202243
- #12#11 In Trials with Cochrane Library publication date Between Nov 2020 and Jan 2022

5

CINAHL

#	Query	Results
S12	S11 Limiters - Published Date: 20200101-20221231	17
S11	S7 AND S10	164
S10	S8 OR S9	11,688
	TX Bisphosphonate* or alendron* or risedron* or	
	zoledron* or etidron* or clodron* or ibandron* or	
S9	pamidron*	8,275
S8	(MH "Diphosphonates+")	9,624
S7	S1 OR S2 OR S3 OR S4 OR S5 OR S6	19,557
	TX ((dental or tooth or teeth) and (implant N3 (failure	
S6	or loss)))	1,577
S5	TX ((dental or tooth or teeth) N3 implant*)	14,936
S4	(MH "Dental Restoration, Permanent")	5,202
S3	(MH "Dental Prosthesis, Implant-Supported")	2,840
52	(MH "Dental Implantation")	4,408
S1	(MH "Dental Implants")	9,817

MSc Thesis – Reza Mirza; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

Web of Science (Clarivate)

6

#5 Publication date 2020-2022

## <u>26</u>

Add to query

5

#3 AND #4

<u>380</u>

Add to query

4

TS=(diphosphonate\* or Bisphosphonate\* or alendron\* or risedron\* or zoledron\* or etidron\*

or clodron\* or ibandron\* or pamidron\*)

44,114

Add to query

3

#1 OR #2

<u>28,684</u>

Add to query

2

# TS=((((dental or tooth or teeth) and (implant near/3 (failure or loss) ))) )

<u>3,964</u>

Add to query

1

TS=((((dental or tooth or teeth) near/3 implant\*)))

28,406

Study	Same population?	Confident in exposure assessment?	Outcome Not Present at Onset?	Control Confounders?	Assessment of Confounders?	Confident in Outcome Assessment?	Follow-up Adequate?	Similar co- interventions?	Overall risk of bias
Al-Sabbagh 2015	Probably yes	Probably no	Definitely yes	Definitely no	Definitely yes	Definitely yes	Definitely no	Definitely no	High
Famili 2011	Definitely yes	Definitely yes	Definitely yes	Probably yes	Probably no	Probably yes	Definitely no	Definitely no	Low
Famili 2015	Probably yes	Definitely yes	Definitely yes	Definitely no	Definitely no	Definitely no	Probably yes	Definitely no	High
Jeffcoat 2006	Definitely yes	Definitely no	Definitely yes	Probably no	Definitely no	Probably no	Probably no	Definitely no	High
Pandey 2019	Probably yes	Definitely no	Definitely yes	Probably no	Definitely no	Definitely no	Definitely no	Definitely no	High
Yajima 2017	Definitely yes	Definitely no	Definitely yes	Probably no	Definitely no	Definitely no	Probably no	Definitely no	High
Kasai 2009	Probably yes	Definitely no	Definitely yes	Probably no	Definitely no	Definitely yes	Definitely no	Definitely no	High
Koka 2010	Definitely yes	Definitely yes	Definitely yes	Definitely no	Probably no	Probably yes	Probably no	Definitely no	High
Cheng 2022	Definitely yes	Definitely yes	Definitely yes	Definitely no	Probably yes	Definitely yes	Probably no	Probably yes	Low

# Appendix C. Modified Ottawa-Newcastle Risk of Bias for Dental Implant Outcomes

Study	Risk of Bias Comments
Al-Sabbagh 2015	The number of patients who did not wish to participate is not provided.
Famili 2011	OP self-reported. Adjusted analysis.
Famili 2015	DXA performed by investigators. Included osteopenic patients. One non-
	BP patient on calcitonin. Two year follow-up. Unadjusted analysis.
Jeffcoat 2006	Three years follow-up. Unadjusted analysis.
Pandey 2019	Patient selection methodology unstated. Comparator arm exposed to
	PTH analogue. Unadjusted analysis, but patients with confounding risk
	factors excluded.
Yajima 2017	Patient selection methodology unstated. Unadjusted analysis. Loss to
	follow-up unstated.
Kasai 2009	Patients self-reported OP and BP exposure. Unadjusted analysis.
Koka 2010	Patients who did not respond to telephone call were excluded. Only age
	controlled for.
Cheng 2022	Prophylactic antibiotic use appears variable, and was not controlled.

Study	Same population?	Confident in exposure assessment?	Outcome Not Present at Onset?	Control Confounders?	Assessment of Confounders?	Confident in Outcome Assessment?	Follow-up Adequate?	Similar co- interventions?	Overall risk of bias
Ryu 2021	Definitely yes	Probably yes	Definitely yes	Probably yes	Definitely yes	Probably no	Probably yes	Probably no	Low

# Appendix D. Risk of Bias for MRONJ

# Appendix E. PRISMA 2020 Abstract Checklist

	-	
11	us	114
r		

#### **PRISMA 2020 for Abstracts Checklist**

Section and Topic	ltem #	Checklist item	Reported (Yes/No)
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review.	Yes
BACKGROUND			
Objectives	2	Provide an explicit statement of the main objective(s) or question(s) the review addresses.	Yes
METHODS			
Eligibility criteria	3	Specify the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the review.	Yes
Information sources	4	Specify the information sources (e.g. databases, registers) used to identify studies and the date when each was last searched.	Yes
Risk of bias	5	Specify the methods used to assess risk of bias in the included studies.	Yes
Synthesis of results	6	Specify the methods used to present and synthesise results.	Yes
RESULTS			
Included studies	7	Give the total number of included studies and participants and summarise relevant characteristics of studies.	Yes
Synthesis of results	8	Present results for main outcomes, preferably indicating the number of included studies and participants for each. If meta-analysis was done, report the summary estimate and confidence/credible interval. If comparing groups, indicate the direction of the effect (i.e. which group is favoured).	Yes
DISCUSSION			
Limitations of evidence	9	Provide a brief summary of the limitations of the evidence included in the review (e.g. study risk of bias, inconsistency and imprecision).	Yes
Interpretation	10	Provide a general interpretation of the results and important implications.	Yes
OTHER			
Funding	11	Specify the primary source of funding for the review.	Yes
Registration	12	Provide the register name and registration number.	Yes

# Appendix F. Risk Difference Analyses

## Absolute Risk Difference of Dental Implant Failure (patient level)

	Anti-resorptive	herapy	Control (osteop	orosis)		Risk Difference	Risk Difference
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M–H, Random, 95% CI
Al-Sabbagh 2015 (662)	0	20	0	9	5.8%	0.00 [-0.15, 0.15]	
Cheng 2022	19	124	41	199	18.3%	-0.05 [-0.14, 0.03]	
Famili 2011	1	22	0	5	2.2%	0.05 [-0.20, 0.29]	
Famili 2015	0	2	0	18	0.7%	0.00 [-0.43, 0.43]	
Jeffcoat 2006	0	25	1	25	12.1%	-0.04 [-0.14, 0.06]	
Kasai 2009	3	11	0	4	1.0%	0.27 [-0.10, 0.64]	
Koka 2010	1	54	2	82	54.0%	-0.01 [-0.05, 0.04]	<b>+</b>
Pandey 2019	1	15	1	15	4.1%	0.00 [-0.18, 0.18]	
Yajima 2017	3	11	0	14	1.8%	0.27 [-0.00, 0.55]	
Total (95% CI)		284		371	100.0%	-0.01 [-0.05, 0.03]	
Total events	28		45				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$	00; $Chi^2 = 8.01$ , df	= 8 (P = 0)	$(1.43); I^2 = 0\%$			F	
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 0.50 (P = 0.62)					-	-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1 Favours Anti-resorptive Favours Contol (OP)

# Absolute Risk Difference of Dental Implant Success (patient level)

	Anti-resorptive t	herapy	Control (osteop	orosis)		Risk Difference	Risk Difference
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Random, 95% CI
Al-Sabbagh 2015 (662)	20	20	9	9	5.8%	0.00 [-0.15, 0.15]	
Cheng 2022	105	124	158	199	18.3%	0.05 [-0.03, 0.14]	
Famili 2011	21	22	5	5	2.2%	-0.05 [-0.29, 0.20]	
Famili 2015	2	2	18	18	0.7%	0.00 [-0.43, 0.43]	
Jeffcoat 2006	25	25	24	25	12.1%	0.04 [-0.06, 0.14]	
Kasai 2009	8	11	4	4	1.0%	-0.27 [-0.64, 0.10]	
Koka 2010	53	54	80	82	54.0%	0.01 [-0.04, 0.05]	+
Pandey 2019	14	15	14	15	4.1%	0.00 [-0.18, 0.18]	
Yajima 2017	8	11	14	14	1.8%	-0.27 [-0.55, 0.00]	
Total (95% CI)		284		371	100.0%	0.01 [-0.03, 0.05]	
Total events	256		326				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$	00; $Chi^2 = 8.01$ , df	= 8 (P = 0)	$(1.43); I^2 = 0\%$			H	
Test for overall effect: Z =	0.50 (P = 0.62)						Favours Contol (OP) Favours Anti-resorptive